FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/11/2022 9:07 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/11/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>1011</u>61-0 (COA No. 55392-9-II)

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

٧.

TRE JORDAN BUTTERFIELD,

Petitioner.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION TWO

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

KYLE BERTI Attorney for Petitioner

LISE ELLNER Attorney for Petitioner

LAW OFFICES OF LISE ELLNER Post Office Box 2711 Vashon, WA 98070 (206) 930-1090 WSB #20955

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Tre Butterfield, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition pursuant to RAP 13.4.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Tre Butterfield seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision dated May 24, 2022, reconsideration denied dated July 29, 2022, copies of both are attached in Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under ER 805, double hearsay can only be admitted when an exception applies to each level of hearsay. ER 803(a)(4) is an exception to the hearsay rule when the statements are made for medical diagnosis or treatment. L.R.'s only knowledge of the incident comes from at least two conversations with her friend B.B., another medical professional, and law enforcement. L.R. recounted what

she was told to Ms. Rathbun, a SANE nurse. Ms. Rathbun recounted those double hearsay statements at trial. Does the Court of Appeals correctly hold these double hearsay statements are harmless when there was insufficient untainted evidence establishing Mr. Butterfield's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 2015, Mr. Butterfield attended a house party with L.R., B.B., Matthew McMillan, Josh Norcutt, and Corey Owens. RP 18, 63, 65, 90, 107. The partygoers smoked marijuana and drank alcohol. RP 39, 74-5. L.R., the victim in this case, drank a Four Loko and shots of Bacardi. RP 34-5. Mr. Butterfield drank beer and smoked some cannabis. RP 215.

At some point during the evening L.R. became sick and asked for a place to sleep. RP 39, 74-5. Mr. Owens provided his room for L.R. *Id.* An unknown amount of time passed when Mr. Butterfield asked to either use the

bathroom or simply left the area to find the bathroom. RP 75, 223. Thereafter, Mr. Owens noticed Mr. Butterfield was absent. RP 75.

Mr. Owens searched his house when he discovered Mr. Butterfield in the same room as L.R. Mr. Owens does not remember if he saw anything visually, but remembers hearing "like moaning, kissing sounds." RP 75. Mr. Owens went back to the group either telling them "I think [Mr. Butterfield] is there in messing with that girl." Or "[y]ou guys might want to come check this out because [Mr. Butterfield] is having sex with [L.R.] RP 75-6.

The group quickly approached the room and opened the door. Over defense counsel's objection, Mr. McMillan read his statement to law enforcement in which he saw Mr. Butterfield roll off L.R. and Mr. Butterfield's penis was visible through his pants and L.R. did not have underwear on. RP 95-6. B.B. testified Mr Butterfield was "acting like he didn't know what was going on." RP 114.

B.B. and the group woke L.R. up and got her dressed. B.B., L.R., and Mr. McMillan fell asleep together shortly thereafter. B.B. does not remember if she and L.R. discussed the incident the next morning. RP 115. On May 3, 2015, L.R. changed her clothes and underwear before going out with her mother all day swimming. RP 44, 50. L.R. took a shower at some point during the day. RP 45. During trial, the trial court sustained several of defense's hearsay exceptions preventing L.R. from recounting statements made by B.B. and Mr. McMillan. RP 43.

On May 4, 2015, L.R. accompanied B.B. to B.B.'s regularly scheduled counseling session with Ms. Meier. RP 46-7. B.B. informed her counselor the details of the incident. RP 117. L.R. testified that B.B. told the counselor "what was told to me." RP 47. Ms. Meier helped L.R. talk about the incident before the two left for school. RP 47. Ms. Meier later called the police who took statements from her, B.B., and L.R. RP 48, 123-24. During trial the court

sustained defense counsel's hearsay objection preventing Ms. Meier from recounting what B.B. and L.R. told her. RP 122.

L.R. went to the hospital after providing a statement to law enforcement. RP 49. There she was interviewed by SANE Nurse Ms. Marnie Rathbun and underwent a physical exam. RP 49, 125. Ms. Rathbun collected vaginal and oral swabs of L.R. as well as L.R.'s statement. RP 135-37. Ms. Rathbun testified that semen can last in the vaginal vault for up to 96 hours but no semen was recovered. RP3 135.

The State asked Ms. Rathbun to recount what she was told by L.R. RP 137. Defense counsel objected on the basis of hearsay arguing that "in this particular case we have hearsay on hearsay. We have testimony by the victim, we have testimony by the other individuals. And what this statement contains, Your Honor, is this statement contains things that the victim has no recollection of. The

statement contains things that she was told happened to her." RP 138-39.

The trial court overruled the objection finding that the statements qualified under the medical exception to the prohibition on hearsay. RP 140. Ms. Rathbun testified that

[Ms. Rathbun]: She told me she had been at a friend's house on that night drinking. They were watching movies, that she had gotten sleepy, fallen asleep on the couch. Her friends then transferred her to a bedroom. Friends went to search for the male that she identified. They weren't able to find him in the bathroom after he said he was getting up to go. And then they found him in the room with her.

Q. And who is this male that she identified? [Ms. Rathbun]: She said his name was Tre.

Q. Did she tell you anything else about what happened that night?

[Ms. Rathbun]: She said that she had been drinking, she was asleep. That when her friends came in the room, they turned on the light, started yelling that Tre was having sex with her and he rolled off of her. She then was crying and upset. The friends separated them, made Tre leave. Took his keys, because he'd be drinking, and then they fell back asleep, essentially.

Q. Did she tell you anything that she could hear outside of the room?

[Ms. Rathbun]: She said she could just hear yelling and screaming. And then yelling for her to wake up, telling her to wake up.

Q. Did she tell you what she thought happened with Tre?

[Ms. Rathbun]: Do you mean did she say she thought this or this is what her friends said?

Q. Did she tell you what had happened with the guy that was in the room with her, with Tre? [Ms. Rathbun]: She had said that he rolled off of her and that they went out of the room. And they made him leave; they were yelling and screaming at him.

RP 144-45. The jury found Mr. Butterfield guilty on all counts.

On appeal, Mr. Butterfield raised several issues including the trial court erroneously admitting double hearsay statements when no exception applied to all hearsay levels. Division Two disagreed, holding that identification of Mr. Butterfield was never at issue and that Mr. Butterfield's trial counsel, during opening and closing arguments, admitted to some criminal conduct. Based on

these admissions, Division Two declined to address the admissibility of Ms. Rathbun's testimony but held that even if the admission of Ms. Rathbun's statements were improper, they were nonetheless harmless. OP. at 11.

This timely petition follows.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS INCORRECTLY HELD THAT IMPROPER DOUBLE HEARSAY STATEMENTS WERE HARMLESS.

The trial court erroneously admitted double hearsay statements under ER 803(a)(4), finding the rule's scope encompassed situations in which third-party declarants information the victim convey to over multiple conversations over multiple days, for medical diagnosis and treatment. The Court of Appeals declined to directly address the issue raised by Mr. Butterfield, instead holding that, even if the statements were improperly admitted, they were nonetheless harmless because trial counsel admitted to some criminal conduct and Ms. Rathbun's testimony was consistent with other witness. This was in error because opening and closing statements are merely arguments, not substantive evidence, and it was Ms. Rathbun's testimony that directly alleged sexual intercourse between Mr. Butterfield and L.R.

Hearsay is "[a]n out-of-court statement used to prove the truth of the matter asserted..." *State v. Burke*, 196 Wn.2d 712, 740, 478 P.3d 1096 (2021) (citing ER 801(c), 802). Under Evidence Rule (ER) 802, hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception applies. One exception is statements made for medical diagnosis or treatment. ER 803(a)(4). ER 803(a)(4):

Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

Further, under ER 805 "[a]n out-of-court statement that repeats another out-of-court statement constitutes

hearsay within hearsay or double hearsay[,]" and is not excluded as hearsay if "each part of the combined statements conforms with an exception to the hearsay rule provided in these rules." ER 805.

"The purpose of the hearsay rule is to exclude untrustworthy evidence which may prejudice a litigant's cause or defense." State v. Picard, 90 Wn. App. 890, 889, 954 P.2d 336 (1998) (citing *Nordstrom v. White Metal* Rolling & Stamping Corp., 75 Wn.2d 629, 632, 453 P.2d 619 (1969)). L.R. did not have independent recollection of what happened in the room between her and Mr. Butterfield. Her narrative was based on B.B. and Mr. McMillan's observations and inferences. Thus, even if trial counsel admitted to some criminal conduct, he did not admit to all criminal conduct. In declining to address Mr. Butterfield's argument, Division Two disregards this purpose and disregards the facts of this case.

The remaining untainted evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Mr. Butterfield's guilt. Ms. Rathbun's testimony went beyond corroborating other witness testimony. As stated above, B.B. and Mr. McMillan provided only limited testimony of facts surrounding their entry into the bedroom. Instead, it was Ms. Rathbun's testimony that asserted Mr. Butterfield and L.R. were having sex. L.R.'s statements to Ms. Rathbun was developed in coordination with B.B. and Ms. Meier. At most, B.B. and Mr. McMillan's testimony indicated Mr. Butterfield and L.R. may have been physically touching. But their testimony, alone, did not independently establish Mr. Butterfield's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, contrary to Division Two's assessment.

Left unresolved by Division Two's opinion is whether, as a matter of law, the scope of ER 803(a)(4) provides an exception to double hearsay when that double hearsay is provided to the victim by an unrelated third-party. If one

level of hearsay can be prejudicial, two levels, or more, developed over multiple days and talking sessions necessarily is more prejudicial. Without an understanding of the scope and outer boundaries of ER 803(a)(4) in relation to ER 805, trial courts will continuously admit improper double hearsay statements, prejudicing other defendants as it prejudiced Mr. Butterfield.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Mr. Butterfield respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).