FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/9/2022 1:24 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101161-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 55392-9-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

TRE JORDAN BUTTERFIELD,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two,
And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:



Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office
Office ID 91182
345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor
Chehalis, WA 98532-1900
(360) 740-1240

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Two high school girls, BB, and LR,¹ attended a house party in Centralia, Washington, in May 2015. RP 33, 91. LR was 15 years old, and both girls were most likely sophomores in high school. RP 30, 105. BB was good friends with Matt McMillan, and the girls arrived at the party with him. RP 106-07.

Mr. McMillan knew the homeowner, Cory Owens. RP 72. Mr. Owens was approximately 25 years old and attending college. RP 65, 72. Mr. Owens met Tre Butterfield while attending college and the two became close friends. RP 72. Through Butterfield, Mr. Owens met Mr. McMillan and Josh Norcott. *Id.* Mr. Norcott and Mr. Butterfield were also at the house party. RP 90-91.

They listened to music. RP 74. The men smoked marijuana and drank beer. RP 73-74, 215. BB and LR

¹ The minor victim, LR, and the minor witness, BB, are referred to by their initials.

began consuming alcohol. RP 34-35, 108. BB had drank alcohol many times before and could handle her alcohol. RP 109. In contrast, LR became intoxicated quickly because she had not previously drank much alcohol. RP 39.

LR and BB were together throughout the party. RP 109. LR was very intoxicated and got sick. RP 110. Someone had LR lay down on Mr. Owens's bed. *Id.* LR was dressed, wearing a sweatshirt and spandex pants. RP 36, 111. LR fell asleep and BB checked on LR several times. RP 110-12.

At some point during the party, Mr. Owens realized Butterfield had left the living room where everyone was hanging out. RP 75, 112. Mr. Owens decided to check to see if Butterfield was all right. RP 75, 113. Mr. Owens went into his bedroom, heard moaning and kissing sounds, left the room, walked out to the living room and stated, he thought Butterfield was, "messing with that girl." RP 75-76.

Mr. McMillan and BB ran to the bedroom and turned on the light. RP 113. Butterfield rolled off LR. RP 96, 114. Butterfield's pants were unzipped and you could see his penis through his zipper. RP 96, 114. LR was still asleep. RP 113. BB was yelling at LR to wake LR up and LR "did not know what was going on." *Id.* LR was rubbing her eyes and appeared confused. *Id.* LR had her sweatshirt still on but her pants and underwear were around her ankles. RP 113-14.

The next morning LR woke up, feeling sore in her vaginal area, as if she had sex the night before. RP 41. LR had other physical signs of having intercourse the previous night. RP 42. LR did not give Butterfield consent to have sex with her. RP 43.

Law enforcement was contacted a couple of days later, and the case was investigated. RP 152-61, 180-200, 203-10. LR went to Providence St. Peter's Hospital for a sexual assault exam. RP 126-31. Potential evidence was

collected. RP 134. The nurse took information from LR to assist in treating LR. RP 137, 143-48. Nurse Rathbun noted in her report, LR had been drinking and had a loss of consciousness. RP 147-48. As a result, LR did not know if the person who raped her wore a condom, used lubricant, and LR could not relay if her assailant had ejaculated inside of her. RP 148. For the most part, the only information LR could relay about the sexual assault and the surrounding events was information LR had been told by others. RP 143-45.

Butterfield was convicted of Rape of Child in the Third Degree and Rape in the Second Degree. CP 126-27. The two counts merged and Butterfield was sentenced to 210 months in prison. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Rape in the Second Degree conviction (the State conceded Count I should be vacated).

E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals applied the proper legal analysis when it determined the admission of the double hearsay statements through the testimony of the SANE nurse was harmless. The Court of Appeals followed the established precedent. Butterfield fails to cite or adequately discuss the enumerated considerations for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

1. Butterfield Fails To Identify Which Consideration Governing Acceptance Of Review He Is Asking This Court To Consider, And Further Fails To Present A Concise Statement Of The Reasons For Review In Light Of Considerations For Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

A person seeking review must choose from the four enumerated reasons for review found in RAP 13.4(b). This Court accepts review for the following reasons:

Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). A petition should contain, “A direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument.” RAP 13.4(c). Butterfield’s petition fails to follow RAP 13.4.

Butterfield fails to specifically cite to one of the RAP 13.4(b) subsections or explain how the Court of Appeals decision, finding the admission of the double hearsay harmless, falls into any of these grounds. Rather, Butterfield cursorily cites to RAP 13.4 twice in his petition.

Petition at 1, 12. First, Butterfield mentions RAP 13.4 in the “Identity of Petitioner” section, asking this Court to accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4. Petition at 1. Butterfield also mentions RAP 13.4 in his Conclusion, stating, “Based on the foregoing, Mr. Butterfield respectfully request that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).” This is not sufficient to meet the requirements of RAP 13.4(b).

Butterfield asserts the Court of Appeals declined to address the issue raised by him, and rather held that even if the statements were improperly admitted they were harmless. Petition at 8. Butterfield’s argument to the Court of Appeals was that the trial court erroneously admitted hearsay within hearsay, that the statements met none of the hearsay objections, and that it was not harmless. *Butterfield*, Slip Op. at 8-9. The State put forward two alternative arguments. *Id.* at 9. The State asserted the statements were properly admitted under the hearsay exception under ER 803(a)(4). *Id.* The State asserted in the

alternative “that any impermissible testimony from Nurse Rathbun was harmless error because Butterfield admitted to have sexual intercourse with LR on the night of the crime.” *Id.* The Court of Appeals stated, “We agree with the State’s alternative argument. Even assuming without deciding that Rathbun’s testimony was improper double hearsay under ER 805, that testimony was plainly harmless.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals proceeded with its opinion “assuming” that the testimony was improper double hearsay, and applying the test to find if it harmless using the assumption that the evidence was improperly admitted under ER 805. The State cannot understand how Butterfield can state that the Court of Appeals proceeding as though he had proven his claim is insufficient. Butterfield is simply displeased with the ultimate result.

Butterfield argues that the facts of his case, if properly applied in a harmless error test, should not

produce the result obtained by the Court of Appeals. See Petition. Yet, Butterfield fails to give a reason why this meets this Courts criteria for review as set forth in RAP 13.4(b). *Id.*

Finally, Butterfield also makes a statement, “[w]ithout an understanding of the scope and outer boundaries of ER 803(a)(4) in relation to ER 805, trial courts will continuously admit double hearsay statements, prejudicing other defendants as it prejudiced Mr. Butterfield.” Petition at 12. This almost appears to be an additional issue presented for review, but given that Butterfield only specifically stated he was asking for review regarding the harmless error ruling by Court of Appeals, the State is viewing this as a summation statement to that argument. This statement still fails to explain which criteria for review Butterfield is asserting. Butterfield’s argument meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and this Court should decline to accept review.

2. The Use Of Second Hand Information For An Incapacitated Patient For The Purpose Of A Medical Diagnosis Falls Within The ER 803(a)(4) Hearsay Exception.

An out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay. ER 801(c). Absent an exception under the evidentiary rules, hearsay is inadmissible. ER 802. Medical providers may be able to testify regarding statements made by another party under certain circumstances. ER 703; ER 803(a)(4). Under the hearsay exceptions:

Statements for Purposes of Medical Diagnosis or Treatment. Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain, or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

ER 803(a)(4). There is also a provision regarding hearsay, within hearsay, or what is commonly referred to as “double hearsay.” ER 805. “Hearsay included within hearsay is not

excluded under the hearsay rule if each part of the combined statements conform with an exception to the hearsay rule provided in these rules.” *Id.*

The State acknowledges the Court of Appeals’ decision in *State v. Alvarez-Abrego* would appear to foreclose the State’s position that LR’s statements to the medical provider, relaying third party information regarding what happened the night of the sexual assault, are admissible because the statements rely on hearsay within hearsay. *State v. Alvarez-Abrego*, 154 Wn. App. 351, 368-69, 225 P.3d 396 (2010). In *Alvarez-Abrego*, the mother of an injured six-month-old child relayed to the physician, that RRR, her four-year-old child, stated Alvarez-Abrego threw the baby against the wall. *Alvarez-Abrego*, 154 Wn. App. at 356. The *Alvarez-Abrego* court held the admissibility of the medical provider’s statements, retelling the statements mom attributed to RRR, was impermissible hearsay, and therefore fell outside of the hearsay exception in ER

803(a)(4). *Id.* at 368-69. The Court of Appeals concluded it was error to admit, using the exception in ER 803(a)(4), double hearsay statements from an uninjured declarant. *Id.* at 369. Yet, the *Alvarez-Abrego* court did not consider how medical providers treat patients who are incapacitated. Therefore, this overly narrow ruling should be broadened to be consistent with how medical treatment is actually provided.

The doctrine of stare decisis precludes the alteration of precedent without a clear showing that the established rule is harmful and incorrect. *In re Stranger Creek*, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.3d 508 (1970). It does not preclude this Court from consideration of arguments to the contrary, however, as it does not require this Court to continue to uphold a law in perpetuity that is incorrect and harmful. *Id.* The rule of law is a fluid thing, and must change when reason requires it to do so. *Id.*

A medical provider will use sources, when necessary, outside of the patient for obtaining pertinent information to assist in diagnosing and treatment of the patient. *Alvarez-Abrego*, 154 Wn. App. at 356. This is universally understood in the practice of medicine. One just needs to look to the World Health Organization (WHO) for confirmation. WHO, as part of their Basic Emergency Care Course, has an entire 76-slide power point on Altered Mental Status that includes reminder for practitioners to consult with third parties for information.² (see slide 11).

A medical provider must look outside the patient for relevant information to treat an incapacitated person. The same is true for the person who is incapacitated, as they are unable to relay the necessary information to assist in their medical treatment. Nurse Rathbun noted in her report,

² See Basic Emergency Care Course, Altered Mental Status located at <https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/basic-emergency-care-approach-to-the-acutely-ill-and-injured> (last visited 9/9/22).

LR had been drinking and had a loss of consciousness. RP 147-48. As a result, LR did not know many of the events of the sexual assault first hand, she had to rely on information provided by others to assist in her medical treatment. RP 143-45, 148. This is necessary because a rape victim receives medical treatment based upon the information gathered by a SANE nurse. There is medication administered, other services recommended, and other tests that may need to be performed. LR received medical treatment in this case based upon the third party information she shared with Nurse Rathbun.

The public has a substantial interest in incapacitated victims of crimes third party's statements to medical providers being included within the hearsay exception of ER 803(a)(4). A medical provider collecting information in their normal course should not be prohibited from testifying in court regarding statements relied upon for treatment purposes. Therefore, if this Court should grant Butterfield's

petition for review, this Court should accept review regarding this issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review of Butterfield's petition.

If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request this Court accept review of the State's cross-petition, and give the State an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing on the issues.

This document contains 2,543 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the words count by RAP 18.17.